
i 

 

 

 

Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall 
 

Historic building record 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Historic Environment Projects 

 

Report No: 2011R101 

 



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

ii 

 

  



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

iii 

 

 

Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall 

 

Historic building record  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Client Mr and Mrs P Moir 

Report Number 2011R101 

Date May 2014 (interim report issued June 2011) 

Status Draft/2nd draft/Final 

Report 

author(s) 

Nigel Thomas 

Checked by Andy Jones 

Approved by  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Historic Environment Projects,  

Direct Services, 

Cornwall Council 

Fal Building, County Hall, Treyew Road, Truro, Cornwall, TR1 3AY 

Tel: (01872) 323603 Email: hes@cornwall.gov.uk 

www.cornwall.gov.uk  



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

iv 

 

Acknowledgements 

This study was commissioned by Mr Peter Moir and carried out by Historic Environment 
Projects, Cornwall Council. 

The Project Manager was Nigel Thomas. 

 

 

 

The views and recommendations expressed in this report are those of Historic 
Environment Projects and are presented in good faith on the basis of professional 
judgement and on information currently available. 

 

Freedom of Information Act 

As Cornwall Council is a public authority it is subject to the terms of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000, which came into effect from 1st January 2005.  

 

 

 

Historic Environment, Cornwall Council is a Registered Organisation with the  

Institute for Archaeologists 

 

 

 

 

 

Cover illustration 

Codda farmhouse, April 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

© Cornwall Council 2011 and 2014 

No part of this document may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or 
transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior permission of the publisher. 



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

v 

 

Contents 

1 Summary 1 

2 Introduction 3 

2.1 Previous archaeological work 3 

2.2 Project background 3 

2.3 Aims 4 

3 Location and setting 4 

3.1 Topography, geology and soils 4 

3.2 Designations 4 
3.2.1 National 4 
3.2.2 Regional/county 5 

4 Historical background 6 

5 Building description 7 

5.1 Period 1: Longhouse (medieval) 7 

5.2 Period 2 : Rebuilt through-passage house, 17th century 9 

5.3 Period 3: Minor alterations and additions (18th century?) 10 

5.4 Period 4: Early 19th century, pre-Tithe Map alterations 11 

5.5 Period 5 : Conversion to two-storey house and extensions (mid to late 19th 

century) 11 

5.6 Period 6: Changes in the 20th and 21st centuries 12 

6 Significance 12 

7 Conclusions 13 

8 References 13 

8.1 Primary sources 13 

8.2 Publications 13 

8.3 Websites 14 

9 Project archive 14 

Appendix 1: Planning brief 47 

Appendix 2: Written Scheme of Investigation 55 
  

List of Figures 

Fig 1 Location map. 

Fig 2 Extract from Altarnun Tithe Map, surveyed in 1843. 

Fig 3 First Edition of the Ordnance Survey 25 Inch Map, c1880. 

Fig 4 Second Edition of the Ordnance Survey 25 Inch Map, c1907. 

Fig 5 Ordnance Survey digital mapping showing the site and its environs (2014). 

Fig 6 Codda Farm in 1981. 

Fig 7 Codda in 1999, by which time the old roof on the lower end had fallen in, and 

had been replaced by temporary boarding. 



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

vi 

 

Fig 8 Codda in 2007. 

Fig 9 Codda in 2011. 

Fig 10 Surviving porch roof in 1981. 

Fig 11 Rear view of the farmstead in 1981, when the roof of the lower end and lean-to 

were decaying but relatively intact. 

Fig 12 Detail of the lower end arched doorway and upper floor opening in 1981 

Fig 13 The remains of the lower end gable in 2011. 

Fig 14 Detail of the present remains of the doorway. 

Fig 15 Inside view of the lower end openings. 

Fig 16 The later 19th century lean-to, showing chamfered stones reused in the jamb 

masonry (arrowed). 

Fig 17 The front entrance to the through-passage 

Fig 18 The rear doorway to the through-passage. 

Fig 19 The interior of the through-passage, looking towards the rear doorway. 

Fig 20 Front view of Codda in 2014, showing new roof on lower end. 

Fig 21 Rear view of Codda in 2014. 

Fig 22 Overall view of the rebuilt lower end in 2014. 

Fig 23 Drain from lower end. 

Fig 24 Detail of the rebuilt lower end openings, April 2014. 

Fig 25 Re-roofed front porch, 2014. 

Fig 26 Re-roofed front lean-to, 2014. 

Fig 27 Rear through-passage doorway, 2014. 

Fig 28 Rear through-passage doorway (right) and re-opened doorway into lean-to 

(left). 

Fig 29 Granite paving in through-passage. 

Fig 30 New roof structure above through-passage, showing earlier roof truss (in 

foreground) and strengthening steel purlin at apex. 

Fig 31 Secondary dividing wall between through-passage (in background) and lower 

end. 

Fig 32 View of interior within rebuilt lower end, 2014. 

Fig 33 Rebuilt doorway into loft above northern lean-to. 

Fig 34 Floor of southern lean-to/former piggery. 

Fig 35 Interior of northern lean-to, looking SE. 

Fig 36 Interior of northern lean-to, looking NW. 

Fig 37 Floor of northern lean-to, showing stall division and part of a drain towards the 

lower doorway. 

Fig 38 Plinth masonry at base of lower end wall. 

Fig 39 Conjectural phase plan of Codda farmhouse (Based on CAU 1999 survey, with 

sketch additions). 

Fig 40 Annotated drawings (based on measured survey supplied by PDP Green 

Consulting Ltd). 



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

vii 

 

Fig 41 Annotated drawings (based on measured survey supplied by PDP Green 

Consulting Ltd). 

Fig 42 Annotated drawings (based on measured survey supplied by PDP Green 

Consulting Ltd). 

 

Abbreviations  

CRO  Cornwall County Record Office 

HER  Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly Historic Environment Record 

HE  Historic Environment, Cornwall Council 

NGR  National Grid Reference 

OS  Ordnance Survey 

MCO  Monument number in Cornwall HER 

 





1 

 

1 Summary  
Listed building consent was granted to rebuild and re-roof the lower end of the 

farmhouse at Codda, on Bodmin Moor and to restore and convert associated 

outbuildings to residential use. The farmhouse, for many years recognised as a 

longhouse of probable medieval origin, has been in decline since the farmstead ceased 

to be an active farm in the late 1980s, and the lower end of the building had been 

roofless for over a decade.  

Due to its rarity and condition, the property has been on English Heritage’s Buildings 

and Heritage at Risk Registers for many years. The farmstead was the subject of a 

measured and descriptive survey in the late 1990s (Herring and Thomas 2000). A 

further photographic study, as well as an archaeological watching brief on below-

ground elements, was required as part of a planning condition for renovation of the 

house. The new study of the house provided opportunity to update information from 

the previous survey and to observe further architectural features, some of which were 

not previously apparent or visible. 

The study has revealed further information regarding the structural development of the 

house, including phases of change in the 18th century and earlier 19th century, before 

the house was enlarged and re-developed in the mid-19th century. The lower end of the 

house was partially and sensitively rebuilt before being re-roofed in 2013. Renovation 

of the outbuildings is likely to follow in due course and will be the subject of a separate 

report. 
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Fig 1 Location map. 

 

 

Fig 2 Extract from Altarnun Tithe Map, surveyed in 1843.  
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2 Introduction 
Codda farmhouse is a Grade II* listed building situated at the end of a lane/minor road 

north of Bolventor village, on Bodmin Moor (Figs 1 and 5). The farmhouse has an early 

post-medieval core, most likely developed from a medieval longhouse. In the 19th 

century the dwelling or upper end of the house was heightened to resemble a typical 

two-storey double-fronted house and a two-storey wing was added to the rear. A lean-

to was added to the rear of the lower end of the longhouse, as well as a separate cow-

house with loft, were constructed at about the same time.  

The lower end or cow-house part of the longhouse in 2011 was partially collapsed 

(being derelict since the 1990s). It is perhaps the most significant surviving part of the 

early building, containing indirect evidence of the longhouse in its lower status use as 

an agricultural building, and in drainage provision for animals stalled within it. Within 

Cornwall (and beyond) it is a rare survival of such a building, being relatively 

undisturbed by later adaptations. 

2.1 Previous archaeological work  

A rapid plan and two measured sketch external elevation drawings (southwest and 

southeast) were made in the early 1980s when the cow-house was still relatively intact, 

and a number of photographs were also taken at that time (see Figs 6 and 10-12). 

In the 1990s the cow-house roof collapsed and was replaced by a temporary scaffold 

structure. In 1999, CAU undertook a comprehensive survey of the farmstead and 

buildings, culminating in a report (Herring and Thomas 2000). The then owners 

intended to replace the fallen roof but unfortunately this was not undertaken and the 

farmhouse has remained on English Heritage’s Buildings at Risk register for many 

years.  

Following a change of ownership in 2007, a small watching brief was undertaken by HE 

Projects on the granite paving in front of the house. No early remains were found here, 

the granitic subsoil found almost directly beneath the paving. In 2008 Dave Tyler (a 

stonemason working for the present owners) carried out some recording works while 

undertaking grouting and strengthening works on parts of the house walls.  

2.2 Project background 

Planning application PA10/03640 was submitted on the 25 May 2010 and was for Listed 

Building Consent for repairs to the existing longhouse, repairs and alterations to 

extensions of longhouse to form domestic spaces, repairs to existing outbuilding 

(former piggery) and repairs, alterations and conversion of a two-storey barn to a one-

bedroom holiday let and annex to main dwelling. (A similar planning application 

PA10/03636 for repairs only was received on the same date.) This application was 

approved subject to 13 conditions. Condition 2 states: 

No development shall take place within the site until the applicant has secured 

and implemented a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a 

written scheme of investigation to be submitted by the applicant and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the County 

Archaeologist. Reason: To ensure that the existing character of the listed 

building is retained. 

A brief outlining the required recording works was prepared by Phil Copleston, Historic 

Environment Planning Advice Officer (see Appendix 1). Historic Environment Projects 

was subsequently contacted by the owners and an estimate of costs was prepared and 

agreed. A Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) was prepared, to set out the intended 

works, the methodology employed and the arrangements for project monitoring. As the 

building programme was planned to be undertaken in a series of stages, with priority 

given to renovation of the lower (cow-house) end of the longhouse, the WSI set out 

stages of recording work and proposed working methods (see Appendix 2).  
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The initial site visits were made in 2011 and an interim report then compiled. The lower 

end of the longhouse was re-roofed in 2013 and a further visit was carried out in April 

2014, this time to record areas previously not accessible, including the floor area of the 

northern lean-to. This work has now completed the building recording in Stage 1 (as 

outlined in the WSI). The Stage 2 work to record the separate outbuilding (containing a 

cow-house and loft) will be a more long-term venture and is likely now to be the 

subject of a separate project and report. 

2.3 Aims 

The principal aim of the study was to gain further understanding of the historic 

development of Codda. The primary objective was to obtain a detailed archaeological 

record of the site prior to alterations. 

 

3 Location and setting 

3.1 Topography, geology and soils 

Codda farmstead lies between Codda Downs, Tolborough Tor and Blackhill Down in 

Altarnun parish (at NGR SX 18004 78387, see Fig 1). The site is carefully positioned on 

a southeast facing side of a sheltered side valley of the River Fowey, about 265m above 

sea level.  

Codda is near the centre of Bodmin Moor, towards the western end of Altarnun parish 

and just over a mile north of Jamaica Inn and Bolventor. A spur road from the A30 

(formerly the Bodmin to Launceston turnpike road and prior to that a medieval and 

possibly prehistoric routeway over the Moor) ends c100m short of the farmstead. From 

there a rough track curves to Codda, fording the stream on its way, and having a short-

cut footpath (over a now-lost footbridge and with stepping stones through the damp 

streamside meadow) attached to it. 

The local geology is Bodmin Intrusion granite and soils are poor (Hexworthy 651b peat 

to loam over granite) but the land of the stream valley and the western side of the 

Fowey (to its north-east) have been used as farmland since the later medieval period 

(see historic background, below). Present land use of this farmland is as an area of 

semi-improved grassland remote from the farmer’s home farm (to the north of Bodmin 

Moor). Most of the fields have a mix of grass and patches of furze and bracken while 

the ground beyond supports coarse grass, heather and bog. 

3.2 Designations 

3.2.1 National 

Codda is a Grade II* Listed building, which received its listed status in November 1988. 

The list description reads: 

Farmhouse and attached shippon and outbuildings. Probably C17 or earlier, the 

farmhouse partly rebuilt in the C19. Stone rubble, the farmhouse with large 

granite quoins and the shippon constructed of large blocks of moorland granite 

and granite rubble. Rag slate roofs with gable ends. Stone rubble end stack on 

left and axial stack backing onto shippon. PLAN: the exact original arrangement of 

the plan is uncertain. The house and shippon are built down a slope with the 

house on the higher left-hand side. The house is of overall 'L' shaped plan and has 

been remodelled on the exterior and raised in the C19. Externally the house 

appears to have a simple front range of two-room and through passage plan with 

one-room plan wing to rear left, all heated by end stacks. However, internally, the 

entrance appears to open directly into the much larger right hand room and the 

left hand room, which is a dairy, is considerably smaller. On the lower right hand 

side of the house the shippon has opposing front and rear doors directly below the 

house and a second entrance in the lower right hand gable end. Despite the 

distinct straight joint between the house and shippon, the plan indicates 
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considerable similarities to that of a long house with a 3-room and through 

passage plan. The original entrance (now divided from the house, on the higher 

left hand side of the shippon) leading into a through passage with no partition on 

the lower right hand side, between the passage and shippon and with a thick 

cross wall on the higher left-hand side containing the hall flue. There is a blocked 

circa arch in this cross wall, which is dressed on the lower face and would have 

been the entrance to the passage into the hall. The larger right hand room of the 

existing house was therefore originally the hall and the smaller left hand room the 

inner room. The central entrance to the house is probably a later insertion, 

possibly of the C19. The roof structure in the shippon has also been replaced in 

the C18 and C19 and therefore it is uncertain whether this long house has 

medieval origins. 

EXTERIOR: 2 storeys. Almost symmetrical front elevation to house on left with 

lower shippon attached on right. The house has an entrance slightly to right of 

centre with C19 stone rubble porch and small outshut attached on left hand side 

of porch. C20 2-light casement to right and small one-light window ventilating the 

dairy to left. Three C20 2-light casements on first floor. On the lower right hand 

side of the house the shippon has a later circa C18 or C19 entrance porch and 

outshut built across the front. The entrance is on the left through an open-fronted 

porch with plank inner door. The granite lintel and jambs to the entrance appear 

roughly chamfered. To the left of the entrance is a small window which would 

have provided some light for the passage. Attached to front right of the shippon is 

a small single storey rendered outbuilding which projects the front right and there 

is a lean-to outshut across the rear. In the lower right hand gable end is a 

chamfered 4-centred granite arch with pyramid stops and a loft door above with 

roughly cut granite jambs, lintel and sill. The yard to front of the shippon and on 

lower right is constructed of huge granite setts with drainage channels 

corresponding with drain holes through the walls of the shippon.  

INTERIOR: the house was probably partly remodelled in the nineteenth century 

with nineteenth century floor joists. The hall fireplace has a probably chamfered 

granite surround with nineteenth century mantleshelf. The dairy in the left hand 

room is complete. The interior was not accessible and it is possible that there are 

further interesting features. The through passage in the shippon has a solid cross 

wall on the higher side which is blackened, possibly as a result of a leaky hall flue 

and there is a cloam oven projection. The blocked entrance between the passage 

and hall has a probable hollow-chamfered granite 4-centred arch which is dressed 

on the lower face. The shippon is open to the roof above the passage and left 

hand side and is floored on the right hand side. There is a flight of internal stone 

rubble and granite steps, leading from near the passage to the loft. The floor 

joists are constructed of roughly cut tree trunks and roof structure was replaced 

in the C18 and C19. 

Due to dereliction and collapse of parts of the building, the house has appeared on 

English Heritage’s Buildings at Risk/Heritage at Risk registers for many years. The entry 

for 2010 reads: 

Farmhouse. C17 or earlier. Partly collapsed. Although some repairs to the 

habitable part of the house have been undertaken, the shippon and ancillary 

buildings are in poor condition. The temporary roof has recently been renewed 

and listed building consent granted for repair of the collapsing gable end. 

3.2.2 Regional/county 

The following county designations relate to Codda and its immediate environs: 

 Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 Area of Great Scientific Value 

 County Wildlife Site 
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 Cornwall Nature Conservation Site  

The farmhouse is recorded in the Cornwall and Scilly Historic Environment Record as 

MCO 3260.10. Its entry (with slight edits) reads: 

The settlement of Codda appears on various maps: Martyn, 1748; OS 1813; and 

the Tithe Award. The census returns of 1851 show one Richard Bray here, farming 

2,500 acres and employing two men and one boy. Codda is still occupied. In 

1984, Jacky Nowakowski made plans and notes on the farmhouse, which is of 

pre-1800 date. Codda's buildings present an amalgam of styles. Much of it may 

be dated to the C17, especially the chamfered stonework and arched doors, but it 

may incorporate the remains of a longhouse. The northern half has suspiciously 

thick walls (1.0m across, whereas those of most post-medieval houses are 0.6m 

to 0.7m). An east wing was added in the C18 or C19. 

 

4 Historical background 
(from Herring and Thomas 2000, with minor edits) 

Codda is a medieval farming settlement whose earliest surviving documentary 

reference dates to 1239 (Johnson and Rose 1994, map ii) although its origins may date 

back a century or two before that as it is situated in a good sheltered position and may 

have been one of the first re-colonising settlements of the turn of the second 

millennium AD. The archaeological remains of at least two longhouses in the settlement 

and surviving relict strip fields containing the ridge and furrow of spade-dug lazy beds 

at the northern end of the extensive field system indicate that by the later medieval 

period (13th and 14th centuries) it was a typical small hamlet of cooperating households. 

(It is possible that there were four households, see 1721 Rental, below. Cornish 

medieval hamlets typically had from two to eight households; Herring 1986.) 

The settlement was referred to as Stumcodda in an Assize Roll in 1280 (Gover 1948). 

In 1362, as Stuncodda, it along with 33 other messuages (homesteads), including 

Brown Willy and Slades, a mile or two to the north-west, was claimed by Stephen and 

Joan Rogger from Walter Polit and William Kena, chaplain (Rowe 1914, 382). The 

Inquisition Post-Mortem of William Fitzwauter who died in May 1385 showed that at his 

death he held ‘two parcels of land’ in Stymkodda and Brownwalyng (Brown Willy) of the 

manor of Fawyton (Fawton) (Maclean 1873, 380). Fawton was one of Bodmin Moor’s 

most extensive and important estates, stretching from south of the demesne farm (to 

the west of St Neot churchtown) right up to Brown Willy and Codda. These were remote 

outposts of settlement within an area of open moorland, the heart of Fawymore, on the 

western side of the Fowey River which was otherwise uninhabited as far south as 

Dryworks (near St Lukes chapel 2km to the SE) in the valley and Brown Gelly (5.5km 

south) on the downs (see Herring 1986 and Johnson and Rose 1994, map ii). 

In c1540 the Rent Roll of Roscarrock Manor included a bounding statement for Trewynt 

Moor (a block of rough ground south of Brown Willy and Codda extending through 

Pridacoombe, Tober and Black Hill) which included reference to Stynnecodde 

(Henderson 1926, 65). One half of Fawton manor was sold, among several others, to 

Reignolde Mohun of Boconnoc in 1591; this land included Brownwellye and ‘Stevendon 

Codda’ (Henderson Calendar 18, p24, Courtney Library, RCM). 

Although remote, Codda seems to have been a substantial and fairly wealthy farm in 

the early post-medieval period. In 1671 there were still two households at ‘Codda’, the 

old prefix having now been dropped, as the record of a ‘Rate… for repairing and 

maintaining the church’ of Altarnun included payments of 6d each from Jane Dennie, 

widow, and Nicholas Speare, both of Codda (Henderson 1924, 12a). Forty-six people 

gave money, of whom only five gave more than the 6d given by each of the two Codda 

households, indicating that Codda was probably towards the top of the Altarnun social 
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pile in the later 17th century. The quality of the shaped granite (probably 17th century) 

surviving in the farmhouse reinforces this impression. 

In 1721 a part of Codda was still within the old Fawton manor (by then combined with 

the manor of Trenay). A Rental of ‘the Manner of Trenay Fawton’ of that year included 

one quarter of ‘Tolborough, Codda and Trewint Moor’. This may be used to suggest that 

later medieval Codda had four distinct parts, probably developed from four households 

and thus four longhouses and four shares in the strip fields.  

Codda is shown (as a single farmhouse called ‘Coaddah’) on Thomas Martyn’s excellent 

map of 1748. Neighbouring farms then included Trescaddick, Trezelland, Lonkamoor, 

Carneglos and Dryworks, all to the east and south. In c1830 Codda together with one 

half of Tolborough were bought from Lord St Germans and a Mrs West by Francis 

Hearle Rodd of Trebartha, North Hill (Henderson Calendar, Courtney Library, RCM) who 

at that time was busy acquiring land in the centre of the Moor on which to set up his 

new parish of Bolventor. 

Francis Hearle Rodd died in 1836 to be succeeded by Francis Rodd. In 1843, when the 

Altarnun Tithe Apportionment Map was prepared (Fig 2), Codda was owned by him and 

occupied by a Richard Vosper. The Atlas of the Rodd estate prepared in 1843 recorded 

that Codda contained 413 acres of which 351 was downland (leaving 62 in fields). By 

1851 Mr Vosper had gone and Codda was occupied by Richard Bray who farmed no less 

than 2500 acres (much of it ‘Moor Runs’, presumably rough ground), and employed 2 

men and a boy (Altarnun Census Returns). 

The history of ownership and occupancy of Codda through the remainder of the 19th 

and the 20th centuries has not yet been studied (materials would include the later 

Census returns and records like Kelly’s Postal Directory). It is known that the Jasper 

family occupied Codda from 1969 to at least 1981 (when the house and farm buildings 

were sketched by Jacky Nowakowski and Peter Herring). The house had been 

abandoned for a number of years before the lower end partially collapsed in 1989 

(further photographs taken then by Peter Herring and Cathy Parkes). Mr and Mrs J 

Bagshawe bought the house and most of the farm buildings in the 1990s, reselling it to 

the present owners in 2007. 

 

5 Building description 
This description incorporates text written by Herring and Thomas 2000, updated with 

present results. The suggested chronology of the house is shown in Fig 39, and 

annotated elevations are presented as Figs 40-42.   

Codda farmhouse is built to a single-celled through-passage plan and has four rooms 

along its principal axis (Fig 39). The building is oriented northwest-southeast and, in 

common with longhouses and other through-passage plan houses, runs across the 

contours. This moorland farmhouse occupies a slight hollow, which offers considerable 

protection from the prevailing wind. 

Upslope from the through-passage, the house has at some time been re-developed as a 

two-storey building, with a rear eastern wing added in the mid 19th century. The house 

is built entirely of granite and has a Delabole rag slate roof (diminishing courses).  

5.1 Period 1: Longhouse (medieval) 

Codda bears the hallmarks of origins as a longhouse, a building type where animals and 

humans lived under a single roof and had shared access, their accommodation 

separated by a through-passage and (usually) wooden screens.  

Codda has for some time been suggested as a possible longhouse (Listing description 

1979; Herring and Nowakowski 1994) but the identification in this survey of the stone 

mangers along the west wall, apparently associated with the 1m wide walling (of 

probably medieval date by analogy with other excavated sites in Devon and Cornwall; 
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Herring 1986, vol 2, 93), provides clear confirmation. It can be placed alongside 

Stonaford, Halbathick, Mennabroom and Cullacott as an occupied house with longhouse 

origins. 

The principal features at Codda which indicate origins as a medieval or very early post-

medieval longhouse are as follows: 

 A through-passage plan, running across the contour. 

 A drain running out from the lower end of the building, indicating presence of a 

cow-house (Fig 23). 

 Evidence of a manger (stone floored and edged) within the lower room of the 

building, along the west wall (i.e. parallel with the line of the building). Other 

stone mangers have been excavated at Garrow (Dudley and Minter 1962-3, 

275-6), Trewortha Marsh (Baring-Gould 1891, plate II), and Bunnings Park 

(Austin et al 1988). 

 Granite boulders protruding from the base of the walls in the lower room may be 

remains of medieval foundations which would have been c1m thick (but the 

walls have been rebuilt above these boulders, probably in the 17th century, see 

Period 2 below). 

The upper limit of the medieval house is likely to have been the thick wall (1.2m wide) 

which now separates the kitchen and dairy. This wall only survives at ground floor level 

and was never raised when this part of the house was converted to two-storeys. The 

evidence therefore points to the medieval dwelling being single-storey; absence of a 

gable suggests the roof was hipped at its upper end. In common with other longhouses 

in Cornwall and Devon, it probably had a thatched roof (Herring 1986, vol 2, 94). 

Overall internal dimensions for the medieval longhouse are 15.85m by 4.4m, giving an 

area of 68.2m², larger than the average (53.3m²) calculated from a survey of 

excavated and surveyed longhouses on the Moor (Herring 1986, vol 2, 92). The cow-

house (31.68m²) is larger than average (19.3m²) and the number of cattle that could 

be accommodated (ten, see below) is also relatively high. Only two other longhouses 

(at Tresellern, North Hill and Carneglos, Altarnun) had larger capacities (ibid, vol 3, 

127). 

The upper end, above the through-passage was 7.81m long, giving an area of 

34.36m², higher than the average total living space calculated for medieval longhouses 

on Bodmin Moor of 30.2m² (ibid, Vol 2, 92). 

Using a formula generated from excavated longhouses (Herring 1986), it is possible to 

calculate that there would have been 10 cattle stalled in the cow-house, two rows of 

five with their heads to the wall and tails over a central drain (traces of the west side of 

which may survive as a row of large stones). It is likely that the medieval through- 

passage was considerably narrower than that which survives today (of 17th and 18th 

century origin) and possible that the domestic, uphill end was subdivided to create an 

inner room (although no physical traces survive). Medieval longhouses often had 

penthouses attached to side and end walls but again no physical remains survive at 

surface at Codda. 

It is possible that below-ground remains from the medieval period survive throughout 

the building as there is little sign of significant post-17th century re-levelling of floors. 

A detailed discussion of medieval longhouses on Bodmin Moor has been produced by 

Peter Herring (1986), and this has been summarised in Johnson and Rose (1994). See 

Herring and Berry (1997) and Thomas (1996) for detail of the other known standing 

Bodmin Moor longhouses; Stonaford in North Hill and Mennabroom in St Neot. All the 

known standing longhouses are relatively recent discoveries and it is likely that close 

examinations such as here at Codda will reveal others in the county.  
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5.2 Period 2 : Rebuilt through-passage house, 17th century 

The principal evidence for an episode of rebuilding of the house at Codda is the use of 

moulded granite masonry for windows (including mullions, chamfered lintels and sills, 

and arched doorways decorated with chamfers and stops). Blue slate fragments have 

also been used as levelling pieces in the walls. Slate is unlikely to have been utilised on 

site during the medieval period, unless the roof of the thatched longhouse was at some 

time upgraded with a more durable material. It is more plausible that when the house 

was rebuilt in the early post-medieval period and intended to have a slate roof at this 

stage, scrap slate was also bought from the quarry and used in the masonry to level up 

the irregular granite pieces. 

A rough plinth of large granite stones supports the upper masonry on the north side of 

the lower end. This is visible within the northern lean-to (see Fig 38). This may be a 

part of the 17th century rebuild (used where subsoil foundations may have been judged 

to have been poor) or might possibly represent a fragment of the medieval masonry. 

A projecting granite eave-stone is visible on the remaining portion of the lower gable 

end wall. This is the only place where such a stone survives, as the wall has collapsed 

on the other side and the roofline at the higher end of the house was raised in the 19th 

century. The eave-stone therefore represents the height of the 17th century roof. 

When the house was rebuilt, it was extended at its upper end to create an extra 

relatively narrow room (this space later became the dairy and still contains its slate 

flagstone shelves supported on granite uprights). The exterior face of the upper end 

wall indicates that it was a gable (at one-and-a-half storeys high) and included a 

chimney. When the house was later converted to two full storeys (see Period 5 below) 

the gable height was raised and the chimney flue within it extended. Similar evidence 

for a one-and-a-half storey upper end with a second chimney is also visible in the gable 

wall dividing what is now the kitchen from the through-passage. 

The unusually wide through-passage (now more of an entry hall, Figs 17-19) was lit by 

two small granite framed single-light windows. One of these windows in the southwest 

wall remains; the other has been partially obscured; a blocked window reveal and sill 

stone is visible on the inside (Fig 19) but there is no trace of the window frame on the 

exterior. The reveal was in-filled and the window frame partly removed when the jamb 

of the rear through-passage doorway was rebuilt. 

The through-passage area has a paved and relatively level floor of large worn granite 

slabs (Fig 29). The level of the paving is considerably higher than the sloping floor of 

the adjacent cow-house. Although it is possible that that this paving was added at the 

time of the 17th century rebuild it appears to be associated with the dividing wall 

between the through-passage and cow-house, and would therefore seem to be later, 

most likely 18th century. Similar external paving (forming the domestic courtyard) is 

probably contemporary.  

There are vertical anomalies in the masonry of the long walls between the through-

passage doorways and the dividing wall separating the cow-house. These are possibly 

repairs following weaknesses in the walls but a more likely interpretation is that they 

are traces of a wooden screen forming the original division between the through-

passage and cow-house. This would in turn suggest that the through-passage area was 

originally narrower, with a correspondingly longer cow-house. 

The dividing wall between the kitchen and the through-passage contains a large 

fireplace. This backs onto the passage, a typical feature of through-passage houses 

(Brunskill 1992, 48-57) and is frequently seen in examples of longhouses in Devon 

(Beacham 1990, 49-53). A window in the southwest wall, in the kitchen, may be an 

enlarged fire window, a feature commonly found in through-passage houses (Brunskill 

1992, 49). This opening was enlarged to incorporate a larger casement window frame, 

most likely an 18th century modification. A granite arched doorway with plain chamfers 

and stops on its jambs provided access to the main room from the through-passage. In 
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the lower part of the house, a similarly moulded arched doorway was available in the 

gable end wall, giving animals separate access to the cow-house (Figs 12, 14, 15, 22-

24). 

The presence of the door implies that the cow-house was still in use, with animals now 

entering and leaving by the new door (i.e. they now had separate access from the 

through-passage and human living quarters, meaning that this was no longer a 

longhouse in the strictest sense). The lower room has a small ventilator slit beside the 

door and also within the room are a pair of recesses or keeping places in the east wall. 

The elaborate nature of the doorway may be an indication of status; this doorway can 

clearly be seen when approaching Codda by the lane from the south. A longhouse at 

West Combe, North Bovey, Devon has a doorway in a similar location at the end of the 

cow-house. Another Dartmoor longhouse at Sanders, Lettaford (Beacham 1990, 51, 55) 

has granite ashlar built into the cow-house, in a position where this decorative masonry 

can be seen when approaching the farm. Many Devon longhouses had haylofts above 

their cow-houses and Codda also had this feature. A photo from 1981 (see Fig 12) 

shows a granite framed opening in the lower gable above the arched doorway, probably 

a pitching hole into a hayloft. Although the sill, left hand jamb and lintel of the opening 

are clearly rougher quarried granite replacements, examination of this photo and the 

surviving masonry indicates that the right hand jamb-stone in the picture, as well as 

the surviving built jamb of the interior, indicate that the opening is contemporary with 

the 17th century build of the house. Nevertheless, the opening was widened later on, 

necessitating replacement of most of the frame.  

The double-flue chimney stack visible in the upper end wall suggests that the ground 

floor room which later became the dairy once contained a fireplace. This indication of a 

heated space suggests this was a parlour or small, more private room for the 

inhabitants. There is now no visible evidence of a fireplace in this room but this may be 

masked by later rebuild and covered with abundant layers of lime-wash. A chamfered 

granite window lintel still in situ in the east wall of the kitchen and sill fragments reused 

in the cow-house indicates that in this period the living quarters had moulded window 

frames.  

5.3 Period 3: Minor alterations and additions (18th century?) 

A porch built in front of the entrance to the through-passage on the southwest side of 

the house appears to represent an addition to the rebuilt longhouse. It was presumably 

built while this was still the main entrance to the house (that is, before Period 4). 

The porch has a cobbled floor comprising worn ‘fist’ size stones, probably gathered 

from the stream in the valley below the farmstead (Fig 17). 

Only one jamb-stone of the porch survives; this granite orthostat bears a rebate for an 

inward opening door. A small amount of finely bedded masonry, part of the wall, is 

extant on the upright. The remainder of the walling, along with the opposite jamb, has 

been lost in a later rebuild to create a slightly wider lean-to building. 

The main doorway of the house, into the through-passage, has original chamfered and 

stopped granite jambs. The lintel supported on these jambs has a relatively shallow 

chamfer and there are traces in the masonry above the door that a significant portion 

of the wall has been rebuilt. It is likely that the single lintel is a replacement for a 

shallow arched door head, rather like the blocked example in the through-passage and 

the one in the lower end gable wall  

Within the cow-house, a fragment of 17th century window sill was reused to support the 

wooden uprights of a manger. The later manger was created across the width of the 

building in the lower room, backing onto a wall dividing the cow-house from the 

through-passage area. The rather thin cross wall is not tied in to the main walls of the 

longhouse, so is evidently later. It incorporates a flight of granite steps from the 

through-passage leading to a first floor doorway into a hayloft above the cow-house. 
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Although possibly earlier, it appears that the granite paving in the through-passage (as 

well as that in the domestic courtyard to the front of the house) belong to this period.  

A window in the northeast facing wall of the kitchen appears to be a late 18th century or 

early 19th century small pane casement design. This was inserted to replace a similar 

sized 17th century granite framed window. Similarly part of the southwest wall of the 

kitchen was altered at some time, most likely to insert a larger window. This alteration 

seems to pre-date the addition of the present front doorway porch, the footprint of 

which is shown on the Altarnun Tithe Map (1843).  

A single-storey rectangular building with a hipped Delabole slate roof was added to the 

southwest side of the lower end of the longhouse. The southwest end of this structure 

was rebuilt in blockwork in the late 20th century. By 1999, part of its roof had tumbled 

and the building was inaccessible. Recent clearance has revealed the lines of a manger 

and a drain, indicating this was likely to have been a calves’ house.  

The date of this building is unclear but definitely pre-dates 1843 as it can be clearly 

seen on the Tithe Map.  

5.4 Period 4: Early 19th century, pre-Tithe Map alterations 

Several minor features and alterations at Codda appear to date to the early 19th 

century. The small lean-to front porch of the present house is shown in plan on the 

Altarnun Tithe Map (Fig 2) so pre-dates 1843. It also appears to post-date alteration of 

the wall of the kitchen, suggested to be an 18th century change. 

Just north of the exterior of the through-passage is an upright stone of a former dog 

kennel; this appears to have been added to the adjacent porch.  

The through-passage porch was altered with a wider wall of a lean-to, so that the 

original porch door jamb-stone now stands slightly separated from its wall. This lean-to 

wall contains another opening, apparently a short doorway, now blocked. It appears 

likely, from the position and the presence of the shallow doorway, that this lean-to was 

once a pigsty, perhaps pre-dating or supplementing another on the opposite side of the 

domestic courtyard. 

Both jambs of the rear through-passage doorway have been reconstructed with built 

masonry. It is likely that the exterior of the doorway was originally framed with granite 

jamb-stones and an arch, with the door itself hung within a rebate. The granite 

threshold stone survives, containing a hinge socket cut into the northern side, and also 

a stump of a granite jamb remains in place at the base (Fig 18). Masonry above this 

has entirely been rebuilt with a chamfered stone now reincorporated higher up. As 

elsewhere in the building, the interior of this opening had built jambs; a few courses of 

original interior jamb seem to survive on the south side, with all the masonry above 

replaced. On the opposite side of the door the rebuilding of the jamb resulted in the 

partial removal and blocking of an adjacent small window. All of these changes appear 

to have occurred before the large lean-to was added to the rear of the lower end of the 

longhouse after 1843. 

The cross wall separating the through-passage from the cow-house appears to have 

been modified with addition of a narrow granite orthostat framed doorway at one end. 

When the cross wall was originally introduced it had a manger running parallel to it and 

running the full width of the building. The doorway therefore seems to be later than the 

manger, unless it was included to allow access as a feeding way. 

5.5 Period 5 : Conversion to two-storey house and extensions 
(mid to late 19th century) 

A radical change occurred at Codda when the part above the line of the through-

passage was raised to two full storeys. This involved abandonment of the through-

passage area - at least for human occupation - and the arched doorway connecting the 

through-passage and the kitchen was blocked. It is likely that the through-passage was 
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relegated to become part of a farm outbuilding range. A cloam oven was added to the 

fireplace, its round buttress-like projection backs onto the through-passage. 

The main entrance into the dwelling was now in roughly the centre of the two-storey 

part. The gable ends and chimneys were raised in height - leaving traces of the former 

roofline in place - and the occupied part of the house was designed to resemble a 

double fronted house, a building type prevalent from the late 18th century onwards. The 

upper floor originally had three bedrooms; the central one was converted to a 

bathroom in the later 20th century.  

A two-storey rear wing was added to the farmhouse in the middle years of the 19th 

century. It is first shown on the OS First Edition 25 Inch Map, surveyed in 1881 (Fig 3) 

but was not there in 1843 (Tithe Map, Fig 2). The rag slate roofs of the house and 

extension are joined together at the same height and look continuous. Masonry in the 

upper walls of the two-storey section contains some quarried granite rather than 

weathered moor-stone, which provides further evidence of a 19th century date for the 

conversion to two-storeys. 

Space in the newer wing includes a living room with a bedroom above. Some masonry 

was evidently reused; a dressed granite jamb, probably from a former doorway, was 

incorporated into a fireplace of the living room. A fine slate flagstone floor in the 

kitchen was probably also added in the 19th century. 

Map evidence also indicates that a lean-to outbuilding, with a loft above, was added to 

the lower end of the building (on the northeast side) before 1881. The jambs of this 

lean-to incorporate reused masonry including a couple of chamfered stones. 

Examination of the floor following clearance of collapsed debris revealed a footing for a 

stall division or partition, as well as a drain leading towards the lower doorway (Fig 37). 

A narrow doorway was constructed on the upper floor to connect the hayloft over the 

cow-house with the loft of the newer lean-to.  

5.6 Period 6: Changes in the 20th and 21st centuries 

Few changes seem to have been made to the farmhouse between 1880 and 1908 (Fig 

4). Later twentieth century additions to the exterior included a brick extension to the 

kitchen chimney stack, presumably built to improve the draught of a stove, and 

corrugated iron cladding, added where the kitchen and gable rises above the lower 

roofline of the through-passage and the lower end of the house (Fig 7).  

The principal change within the late 20th century is the regrettable loss of the lower end 

slate roof, as well as the roofs of the porch and rear lean-to, which occurred after 

Codda ceased to be a working farmstead in the late 1980s (see Figs 6–8).  

Within the time of the present ownership the brick chimney extension has been 

removed and the corrugated iron cladding on the gable replaced with slate hanging. 

The front windows have also been replaced with more appropriate wooden small pane 

casement designs (Fig 9). 

The lower end of the house was partially and sensitively rebuilt and was provided with 

its new roof in 2013 (see Figs 20-26). 

 

6 Significance 
The Grade II* listing of Codda farmhouse reflects its national importance as a rare 

Cornish survival of an early post-medieval longhouse. The 1999 survey confirmed this 

status and is supported by the present study. Within the house, the following features 

were identified in the 1999 survey as being of particular importance, and should not be 

disturbed during any repairs: 

 Below-ground remains throughout. 

 Remains of stone mangers in the cow-house. 
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 17th century window north of western door to through-passage. 

 Blocked 17th century window splay north of eastern door to through-passage. 

 Granite boulders at bases of walls in cow-house. 

 Drain crossing lane south of longhouse. 

 All 17th century and earlier walling and all openings. 

 Both 17th century chimney stacks. 

 Paving within through-passage. 

 Steps up to hayloft over cow-house. 

The 18th, 19th and 20th century additions and repairs also contribute much to the 

house’s character and should also be retained where possible. 

 

7 Conclusions 
The present study has added considerable understanding of the historic development of 

Codda. Archaeological and historic building recording has also provided information to 

assist the sensitive reconstruction of the house. The replacement roof on the lower end 

of the house should provide security of this important historic building for many years 

to come.  
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Fig 3 First Edition of the Ordnance Survey 25 Inch Map, c1880. 

 

Fig 4 Second Edition of the Ordnance Survey 25 Inch Map, c1907. 
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Fig 5 Ordnance Survey digital mapping showing the site and its environs (2014). 

 

Farmhouse 
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Fig 6 Codda Farm in 1981. 

(Photograph, copied from a slide, kindly supplied by Jacky Nowakowski). 

 

Fig 7 Codda in 1999, by which time the old roof on the lower end had fallen in, and had 

been replaced by temporary boarding. 
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Fig 8 Codda in 2007. 

 

 

Fig 9 Codda in 2011. 
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Fig 10 Surviving porch roof in 1981. 

(Photograph kindly supplied by Peter Herring) 

 

Fig 11 Rear view of the farmstead in 1981, when the roof of the lower end and lean-to 

were decaying but relatively intact. 

Fig (Photograph kindly supplied by Peter Herring) 
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Fig 12 Detail of the lower end arched doorway and upper floor opening in 1981 

(Photograph, copied from a slide, kindly supplied by Jacky Nowakowski). 

The sill, LH jamb and lintel of the upper opening are roughly dressed and clearly not 

original, probably representing widening of the opening. Slight slumped masonry left of 

the jamb appears to be part of the associated rebuild. 



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

21 

 

 

Fig 13 The remains of the lower end gable in 2011. 

Arch stones from the doorway lie in the centre foreground. The concave line of the 

upper masonry is the ‘shadow’ left by the loss of the stone jamb of the former opening. 

All masonry surviving here appears to be original to the construction of the longhouse. 

Note also the projecting eave-stone, indicating the line of the 17th century roof. 
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Fig 14 Detail of the present remains of the doorway. 

Note the remains of the timber inner lintel. 

 

 



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

23 

 

 

Fig 15 Inside view of the lower end openings. 

The LH inner jamb masonry of the upper opening shows no sign of alteration so is 

clearly part of the building of the longhouse.  
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Fig 16 The later 19th century lean-to, showing chamfered stones reused in the jamb 

masonry (arrowed). 
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Fig 17 The front entrance to the through-passage 

The jamb stones are part of the 17th century building. The single lintel stone, which has 

a shallow chamfer, may be a replacement for an arch-headed entrance. The masonry 

above the lintel includes two reused chamfered stones just below the wall plate 

(arrowed). 
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Fig 18 The rear doorway to the through-passage. 

Masonry to the right and above the doorway has been replaced, with a chamfered 

stone, possibly one of the original outer jambs, reincorporated below the lintel. A stump 

of the original jamb (arrowed), together with the threshold, are extant. 
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Fig 19 The interior of the through-passage, looking towards the rear doorway. 

Both interior door jambs have been rebuilt but three courses of 17th century masonry 

appear to survive in the lower right hand jamb. Rebuilding of the left hand jamb has 

resulted in the blocking of a small 17th century window, whose jamb-stone and sill are 

still extant. The wall height has also been raised above the truss feet, presumably to 

help seal out the weather. Note that the masonry partition wall separating the through-

passage from the cow-house (to the right) is not tied in, and appears to be 

substantially later. 
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Fig 20 Front view of Codda in 2014, showing new roof on lower end. 

 

 

Fig 21 Rear view of Codda in 2014. 
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Fig 22 Overall view of the rebuilt lower end in 2014. 

 

 

Fig 23 Drain from lower end. 

 

 



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

30 

 

 

Fig 24 Detail of the rebuilt lower end openings, April 2014. 
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Fig 25 Re-roofed front porch, 2014. 

 

 

 

Fig 26 Re-roofed front lean-to, 2014. 
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Fig 27 Rear through-passage doorway, 2014. 

 

 

Fig 28 Rear through-passage doorway (right) and re-opened doorway into lean-to 

(left). 
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Fig 29 Granite paving in through-passage. 

 

 

Fig 30 New roof structure above through-passage, showing earlier roof truss (in 

foreground) and strengthening steel purlin at apex. 
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Fig 31 Secondary dividing wall between through-passage (in background) and lower 

end. 
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Fig 32 View of interior within rebuilt lower end, 2014. 
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Fig 33 Rebuilt doorway into loft above northern lean-to. 

 

 

Fig 34 Floor of southern lean-to/former piggery. 
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Fig 35 Interior of northern lean-to, looking SE. 

 

 

Fig 36 Interior of northern lean-to, looking NW. 
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Fig 37 Floor of northern lean-to, showing stall division and part of a drain towards the 

lower doorway. 

 

Fig 38 Plinth masonry at base of lower end wall. 
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Fig 39 Conjectural phase plan of Codda farmhouse (Based on CAU 1999 survey, with sketch additions). 
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Fig 40 Annotated drawings (based on measured survey supplied by PDP Green Consulting Ltd).  



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

42 

 

 

 



Codda, Bolventor, Cornwall: historic building record 

43 

 

 

Fig 41 Annotated drawings (based on measured survey supplied by PDP Green Consulting Ltd). 
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Fig 42 Annotated drawings (based on measured survey supplied by PDP Green Consulting Ltd). 
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Appendix 1: Planning brief 
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Appendix 2: Written Scheme of Investigation 
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